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JAMES McMANIS (40938)
MARWA ELZANKALY (206658)
McMANIS, FAULKNER & MORGAN

A Professional Corporation

50 W. San Fernando, 10th Floor
San Jose, CA 95113
Telephone:  (408) 279-8700

Facsimile:  (408) 279-3244

RAHINAH IBRAHIM, an individual,
Plaintiff,
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DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND

official capacity as the Secretary of the
Department of Homeland Security; TOM

Secretary of the Department of Homeland

official capacity as Administrator of the
Transportation Security Administration;
DAVID M. STONE, in his official capacity
as Acting Administrator of the
Transportation Security Administration;
TERRORIST SCREENING CENTER;
DONNA A. BUCELLA, in her official
capacity as Director of the Terrorist
Screening Center, NORM MINETA, in his
official capacity as Secretary of
Transportation; FEDERAL AVIATION
ADMINISTRATION; MARION C.
BLAKEY, in her official capacity as

Attorneys for Plaintiff, Rahinah IbrahilrE “f i \ in gﬂ /2 .7

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN FRANCISCO DIVISION

SECURITY; MICHAEL CHERTOFF, in his

RIDGE, in his official capacity as the former

Security; TRANSPORTATION SECURITY
ADMINISTRATION; KIP HAWLEY; in his
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COMPLAINT FOR: \YV ’{_[ A
1) 42 U.S.C. §1983 - Violation of Due
Process; ;

"~ 2) 42 U.S.C. §1983 — Violation of
Equal Protection
3) 42 U.S.C. §1983 — Violation of
Fourth Amendment

4) 42U.S.C. §1983 — Violation of First
Amendment Right to Freedom of
Religion

5) 42 U.S.C. §1983 - Violation of First
Amendment Right to Freedom of
Association

6) CA Civ. Code §52.1 — Interference
With Exercise of Civil Rights

7) CA Civ. Code §52.3 — Deprivation
of Civil Rights

8) False Imprisonment

9) Intentional Infliction of Emotional
Distress

10) Negligent Infliction of Emotional
Distress

11) Declaratory and Injunctive Relief
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Administrator of the Federal Aviation
Administration, FEDERAL BUREAU OF
INVESTIGATION; ROBERT MUELLER,
in his official capacity as Director of the
Federal Bureau of Investigation; SAN
FRANCISCO AIRPORT; CITY OF SAN
FRANCISCO; COUNTY OF SAN
FRANCISCO; COUNTY OF SAN
MATEO; SAN FRANCISCO POLICE
DEPARTMENT; UAL CORPORATION;
UNITED AIRLINES; DAVID NEVINS, an
individual; RICHARD PATE, an individual;
JOHN BONDANELLA, an individual,
JOHN CUNNINGHAM, an individual,
ELIZABETH MARON, an individual; and
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive.

Defendants.

Plaintiff hereby alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

1. The above-entitled action is brought under 42 U.S.C. section 1983, and California
Civil Code sections 52.1 and 52.3, on the grounds that defendants, among other things, violated
the federal and state constitutional rights of plaintiff, granted to her under the First, Fourth, Fifth
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article I, Sections 3, 4, 7, 13

and 15 of the California Constitution.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This case arises under the United States Constitution and the laws of the United
States. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Article III of the United States
Constitution, 5 U.S.C. Sec. 552a, and 28 U.S.C. sections 1331, 1343 and 1361. Venue is proper
in this district, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. section 1391(¢), because defendants include officers and

employees of the United States and the acts and conduct complained of herein occurred in this

judicial district.
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INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

3. Assignment of this action to the San Francisco Division is proper under Civil
Local Rule 3-2(d), because a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims alleged herein
occurred in the County of San Mateo.

PARTIES

4. Plaintiff, RAHINAH IBRAHIM, (“IBRAHIM”), is an individual, who obtained
her Doctorrate Degree at Stanford University, while in the United States on a student visa, and
cﬁrrently resides in the country of Malaysia. IBRAHIM has no criminal record and no links to
terrorist activity.

5. On information and belief, defendant, DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND
SECURITY (“DHS”), is a department of the United States Government, created on October 8,
2001, to develop and coordinate the implementation of a comprehensive national strategy to
secure the United States from terrorist threats or attacks. It is the department ultimately
responsible for the Transportation Security Administration and, in turn, the No-Fly List.

6. On information and belief, defendant, MICHAEL CHERTOFF (“CHERTOFF”),
is the current Secretary and head of the Department of Homeland Security. He is sued here in
his official capacity.

7. On information and belief, defendant, TOM RIDGE (“RIDGE”), is the former
Secretary and head of the Department of Homeland Security. He is sued here in his official
capacity.

8. On information and belief, defendant, TRANSPORTATION SECURITY
ADMINISTRATION (“TSA”), is a department of the United States Government and a sub-
agency of the DHS. The role of the TSA is to implement the provisions of the Aviation and
Transportation Security Act (P.L. 107-71), signed by President George W. Bush on November

19, 2001. The authority to regulate airport security was transferred to the TSA from the Federal

Aviation Administration on November 19, 2001, when the TSA was established.

Complaint




—

o 00 3 Y b N

NN NN N NN N N —
® T A G A DN = S D% ® QR om0 =D 5

Case 3:06-cv-00545-WHA  Document1 Filed 01/27/2006 Page 4 of 21

9. On information and belief, defendant, KIP HAWLEY (“HAWLEY"), is the
Administrator of the TSA, and on information and belief, is responsible for maintaining and
managing the No-Fly List. He is sued here in his official capacity.

10. On information and belief, defendant, DAVID M. STONE (“STONE”), was the
Acting Administrator of the TSA at the time of the incident, and on information and belief, was
responsible for maintaining and managing the No-Fly List. He is sued here in his official
capacity.

11. On information and belief, defendant, TERRORIST SCREENING CENTER
(“TSC”), is a department of the United States Government. Its mission is to maintain a list of
“Terrorist Identities Information” for agencies of the United States Government, including the
TSA. The TSC determines who is on the list that the TSA uses to compile the No-Fly list.

12. On information and belief, defendant, DONNA A. BUCELLA (“BUCELLA”), is
the Director of the TSC, and is being sued in her official capacity as such.

13. On information and belief, defendant, NORM MINETA, is the Secretary of
Transportation and is being sued in his official capacity as such.

14. On information and belief, defendant, FEDERAL AVIATION
ADMINISTRATION (“FAA”), is an independent federal agency that regulates air travel.

15. On information and belief, defendant, MARION C. BLAKEY, is the
Administrator of the FAA and is being sued in her official capacity as such.

16. On information and belief, defendant, FEDERAL BUREAU OF
INVESTIGATION (“FBI”), is a department of the United States Government, and maintains a
“No-Fly watchlist” and transmits this list to the Transportation Security Administration. The
airlines are required to check their passenger lists against this No-Fly watchlist.

17. On information and belief, defendant, ROBERT MUELLER, is the director of the
FBI, and is being sued in his official capacity as such.

18. On information and belief, defendant, SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL

AIRPORT (“SFO”), is an international airport located in San Mateo County.
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19. On information and belief, defendant, CITY OF SAN FRANCISCO (“CITY OF
SF”), is a municipal entity, which oversees the San Francisco Police Department.

20. On information and belief, defendant, COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO (“SF
COUNTY™), is a municipal entity, which also oversees the San Francisco Police Department.

21. On information and belief, defendant, COUNTY OF SAN MATEO (“SM
COUNTY™), is a municipal entity, where SFO is located.

22. On information and belief, defendant, SAN FRANCISCO POLICE
DEPARTMENT (“SFPD”), is a police department which has jurisdiction over events occurring

at SFO.
23. On information and belief, defendant, UAL CORPORATION (“UAL”), is the

holding company for United Airlines.

24. On information and belief, defendant, UNITED AIRLINES, (“UNITED”), is a
Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois.

25. On information and belief, defendant, DAVID NEVINS (“NEVINS”), is an

employee of UNITED, who works at the UNITED ticket counter at SFO as a Customer Service

Supervisor.

26. On information and belief, defendant, RICHARD PATE (“PATE”), is a Police

Sergeant for SFPD.
27. On information and belief, defendant, J. CUNNINGHAM (“CUNNINGHAM?”),

badge number 236, is a police officer of the SFPD.

28. On information and belief, defendant, ELIZABETH MARON (“MARON”), is a
police officer of the SFPD.

29.  Oninformation and belief, defendant, JOHN BONDANELLA, is an employee of
the TSIS, located in Washington, D.C.

30. The true names or capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or
otherwise of defendants, DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, are unknown to plaintiff, who therefore
sues said defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff prays leave to amend the complaint to

show the true names and capacities of defendants when the same have been ascertained.
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GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

31.  Plaintiff brings this lawsuit to challenge defendants’ administration, management
and implementation of the “No-Fly List”, a list circulated to commercial airlines and security
personnel with instructions to detain and question any passenger whose name matches or is
similar to one on the No-Fly List.

32.  Defendants began implementing the No-Fly List in November, 2001. Since then,
it has resulted in hundreds, if not thousands, of innocent passengers being routinely stopped,
questioned, searched, and sometimes physically arrested, as in this case. Defendants do not
inform individuals that they have been placed on the No-Fly List or why they are on the list.
Moreover, individuals whom defendants determine are not security threats continue to be
identified on the No-Fly List. Passengers, therefore, have no meaningful opportunity to
challenge their identification on the No-Fly List.

33.  For several years before the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, the U.S.
Government issued directives identifying persons who were deemed to pose a threat to civil
aviation. In November, 2001, the TSA was formed and assumed responsibility for compiling
and administering these directives, with the assistance of the TSC. Today, defendants maintain
at least two watch lists of individuals perceived to be threats to aviation security. The “no-fly”
list contains names of people which airlines are prohibited from transporting. The “selectee” list
contains names of passengers who must go through additional security screening before boarding
an aircraft. These two lists collectively are referred to as the “No-Fly List.” On information and
belief, the No-Fly List contains thousands of names, primarily names of individuals of Muslim or
Middle Eastern descent.

34. Until November, 2002, defendants denied the existence of the No-Fly List. Until
today, defendants have refused to disclose important information regarding the No-Fly List,
including the criteria for placing names on or removing names from the No-Fly List, procedures
for amending information on the List such as when it is determined that an individual is not a
security threat, or rules for maintaining or managing the List. Because defendants have refused

to provide any of this information, defendants may be using race, religion, ethnicity, national
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origin, or the exercise of protected First Amendment rights as factors in maintenance and
implementation of the No-Fly List.

35.  On information and belief, defendants occasionally disseminate updated versions
of the No-Fly List as attachments to security directives and emergency amendments to
commercial airlines in the United States. The 15 domestic airlines have almost half a million
employees and, on information and belief, a substantial percentage of these employees have
access to the No-Fly List. On information and belief, these security directives and the No-Fly
List are also provided to customs and immigration agents, airport security, and law enforcement
agencies. Moreover, information from the No-Fly List is inputted into other security databases
such as the FBI and the FAA. On information and belief, defendants, TSA and DHS, and the
heads of their departments, instruct recipients of the No-Fly List to detain and interrogate any
individual who checks in for a flight whose name is similar or identical to a name on the No-Fly
List. Even if the passenger’s actual identity is verified, a boarding pass is issued which is
stamped with a mark to indicate the passenger must be subjected to enhanced screening, also
referred to as “secondary screening.”

36.  Innocent passengers subjected to this treatment are stigmatized, humiliated, and
subjected to interrogations, delays, enhanced searches, detentions, travel impediments, and
sometimes actual physical arrest without a warrant or any probable cause. This treatment is
completely unexpected as they have no notice that they have been placed on the No-Fly List.

37. Plaintiff, IBRAHIM, was subjected to this humiliating treatment on January 2,
2005, at the SFO, while traveling to Malaysia, through an initial stop in Hawaii.

38. IBRAHIM is a citizen of Malaysia. She is a Muslim woman who is clearly
identifiable as Muslim as she wears a head scarf, also known as a “hijab.”” IBRAHIM has no
criminal record and no ties whatsoever to any terrorist activity. At the time of the incident,
IBRAHIM was a student at Stanford University, studying to obtain her Doctorate Degree (PhD),
and lawfully in the United States on a student visa. IBRAHIM’s student visa was valid from
September 26, 2001 to January 11, 2007. She was preparing her thesis on affordable housing
and on January 2, 2005, IBRAHIM was scheduled to fly to Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, with a
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changing flight in Hawaii, to present her research findings at a conference sponsored by Stanford

[a—y

University. She was scheduled to return to Stanford in March, 2005, to submit her dissertation
and complete her PhD.

39.  Prior to her trip, in October, 2004, IBRAHIM had a hysterectomy surgery at
Stanford University Medical Hospital, with an extremely invasive abdominal approach.
IBRAHIM suffered severe complications from her surgery which extended her recovery period
for months. IBRAHIM also suffered back and abdominal pain from her surgery and was

regularly taking medication for these complications.

OO N3y R W

40. On January 2, 2005, at approximately 7:00 a.m., IBRAHIM arrived at SFO with

her fourteen-year old daughter. IBRAHIM and her daughter were scheduled to leave on a United

P
=)

11 | Airlines flight from SFO, at 9:00 a.m. IBRAHIM and her daughter, escorted by IBRAHIM’s
12 | friend, went to the ticket counter to obtain their boarding passes and check in their bags.
13 | IBRAHIM informed UNITED of her medical complications and requested wheelchair
14 | transportation to the airline gate.

15 41. At that time, defendant, NEVINS, approached IBRAHIM and asked to see her
16 | tickets. NEVINS called SFPD and informed them that IBRAHIM was on the No-Fly List. At
17 | the request of NEVINS, defendants, CUNNINGHAM and PATE, of SFPD, arrived at the airport.
18 | On information and belief, PATE checked the No-Fly List for IBRAHIM’s name. He called
19 | defendant, BONDANELLA, of the TSIS in Washington, D.C. Defendant, BONDANELLA, told
20 | defendant, PATE, to not allow IBRAHIM on the flight, to contact the FBI, and to detain
21 | IBRAHIM for questioning. A SFPD officer, whose name is not known to plaintiff, also arrived
22 1 at the scene.

23 42, Meanwhile, IBRAHIM stood waiting for an hour and a half, with no wheelchair,
24 | while she suffered from back and abdominal pain. IBRAHIM’s friend informed the SFPD
25 | officers several times of IBRAHIM’s medical condition.

26 43, At 8:45 a.m., fifteen minutes before IBRAHIM’s flight was scheduled to leave,
27 | defendant, CUNNINGHAM, told IBRAHIM that she was being arrested. IBRAHIM was
28 | handcuffed by CUNNINGHAM, with her hands placed behind her back, in the middle of the
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airport, in front of her fourteen-year old daughter, and everyone else at SFO. IBRAHIM was not
informed as to why she was being arrested. Instead, she was taken to the SFPD police station,
escorted by three male officers, while she sat in the back seat, rubbing her abdominal muscles
from the pain.

44. Upon arriving at the police station, IBRAHIM was searched by defendant,
MARON. During this search, MARON attempted to remove IBRAHIM’s hijab and searched
under her hijab in public view, before the other male officers. On information and belief, the
pélice officers also informed the FBI of IBRAHIM’s detention.

45. IBRAHIM was placed in a holding cell at the SFPD police station for
approximately two hours while she continued to suffer from severe back and abdominal pain.
IBRAHIM was not given her medication when she asked for it to relieve her pain. Eventually,
the paramedics were called as a result of IBRAHIM’s medical condition. IBRAHIM was finally
given her medication after the paramedics left.

46. On information and belief, the FBI finally requested SFPD to release IBRAHIM
at approximately 11:15 a.m., over two hours after her flight had left. IBRAHIM was given no
information as to why her name was on the No-Fly List.

47. Defendants represented to plaintiff that her name had been removed from
the No-Fly List. The following day, on January 3, 2006, IBRAHIM discovered that she was still
on the No-Fly List when she attempted to fly again. After some effort, IBRAHIM was finally
allowed to fly to Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. At SFO, however, and at every stop over, IBRAHIM
was publicly subjected to enhanced searches before boarding any flights.

48. On July 1, 2005, plaintiff filed a claim with the City and County of San Francisco
and a claim with the City and County of San Mateo for her damages suffered as a result of]
defendants’ conduct. On August 2, 2005, the County of San Mateo issued a letter rejecting
plaintiff’s claim. On September 8, 2005, the City and County of San Francisco issued a letter,

also rejecting plaintiff’s claim.
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